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THE WOODS AND FORTS OF WEST CLARE
I

N a paper read at the meeting of the Royal Society of  Antiquaries of Ireland in February, 1908, the noted Clare historian, Mr. Thomas Johnson Westropp, M.A., gives the following interesting account of the ring forts in the barony of Moyarta, and their legends. He tells how, in the year 1655, there was a considerable amount of wood in Doonaha, Kildimo, Clonecaran and the neighbourhood of Doonaghboy, that Balleonan had dwarf woods and heath; while westward from Kilcroney and Kilcasheen considerable moorland, arable land and heath extended, getting poorer and more valueless as Loop Head was approached.
The same still holds good, and even thickets of dwarf wood are to​day found in the bogs beside this road, as a journey over it will prove.
In his paper Mr. Westropp says: "In treating of the earthworks from Kilkee southwards, we proceed down the eastern part of Irrus, and then along the north shore of the Shan​non to Rehy. We do not pretend to describe them all, or even any con​siderable share of the remains, so numerous in this part of Clare, but only give the best examples of the lisses. Unlike those of Loop Head, we have discovered very little legend or folk-lore about them, and that of a fragmentary nature. It is un​fortunate that down to the present time none of the inhabitants of this interesting district have concerned themselves with such subjects, else the matter would have been by this, on a very different footing.
DISREGARD FOR IRISH TRADITIONS
Except for a few O'Briens, Keanes and MacDonnells, the "educated classes” here, and indeed, all over Clare, disregarded Irish history, archaeology, traditions, literature. "the caviller was esteemed, and the gentle man of learning despised" as. Andrew MacCurtin lamented in his poem to Charles (Sorley) and Isabel MacDonnell about 1730. His only comfort was the belief that though the settlers "herds and wealth shall pass away like summer mist, the scientific composition shall remain." Meanwhile, however, the legends passed away, and apart from their rents the gentry only valued the land as "a portion for foxes" and game; the few who had travelled fell victims but too easily to the ponderous' books of learned non​sense, the opprobrium of English archaeology, and immersed them​selves in a pseudo-Etruscan, Mithraic and other speculation, while they neglected the more natural study of the antiquities of their own land.
LEFT TO STRANGERS
It was left to a poor school master like John Lloyd in 1778, to strangers like Dutton and Mason, angered and discouraged by neglect and discourtesy, and to an invalid lady like Mrs. Knott, to write the only notes on the county published between the reigns of Charles II and Victoria. Even after 1837, during nearly half a century, few in Clare, save Eugene O'Curry and Ladv Chatterton troubled themselves about the traditions, while Lady Dunraven, Canon Dwyer and Messrs. Cooke and Marcus Keane alone left anything tangible on the ruins of Clare, though rarely touching upon its forts. For a number of years past an attempt has been made to harvest what was left; no slight task if we are to secure even the small fraction that has not as yet followed into oblivion all that has been lost since   the   last   century.
SIXTH   CENTURY    INCIDENT 
The   early   Latin    "Life   of   St. Senanus" tells  us how  that saint, early in the sixth century, was con​ducting a herd of cattle belonging to his father, Gerrchind, one of the lesser gentry of the district.   He was driving them from "a place called Irros, lying towards  the west, to Maghlacha" his father's  residence at Moylough, to the east of Kilrush, where the  remnants  of two  early oratorios bear witness to the hon​our in which "the Apostle of Corcovaskin" was held at his birthplace. The place in Irros seems to have been named Tracht Termuinn, and is probably the townland of Termon near Moyasta.
REFUSED   A   NIGHT'S   SHELTER

Senan drove the cattle home east​wards, till he came to the place where "the ocean tide separated the two places" (Irros and Maghlacha). Evening was coming on and the tide was full, so unable to cross the creek, he was compelled to return "to a neighbouring castle" at a place called Dun-mechair, or Dun-maghair, to ask shelter for the night. Macharius the owner being absent, the servants roughly refused the sainted youth his request. Senan returned wearily to the creek, and found that the water had ebbed. Preceded by the oxen, he crossed to the other shore, when the tide once again rose to its former height.
NOT CONVINCING  TO   MODERN MINDS

Senan thereupon vowed to be a soldier of Christ, and marking a cross on his spear, planted the weapon on the ground, and ratified his oath upon the symbol. We are told that the castle of Macharius, later on, was attacked by enemies, his son killed, and his wife and all his valuables carried away, though, as Macharius was guiltless of in​hospitable conduct to the saint, the retributive "justice" is not convincing to modern minds.
THE  BLACK  WEIR   OF MOYASTA

This much, however is clear that when the Life was written, possibly in the later twelfth century the earlier metrical Life gives no name for the "castle" though it mentions it, a fort, to which this legend was attached, stood near the fort at a little distance westward. The fort was evidently at the Black Weir, Moyasta, though the name Clarefield, near the mouth of the creek at Poulnasherry, suggests a second crossing of planks as at Clarecastle (clar atha da coradh) and Clarisford. The foreshore of the two Termons on the western side  of the inlet is evidently the Tracht Termuinn of the life and the”Tragh” (Strand) from which the compiler of the “1380” Rental of  the O’Briens commences the survey of West Corcavaskin. Senan, we are told dedicated his lands to  the Church and both Termon and MOylough were parts of the property of Iniscatha Monastery at the Disolution a thousand years after the founder’s death.
In the creek below Termon Point is still a St. Senans well, and up the stream a little westward from the latter is a large nameless fort, on the highest point of the town-land, three quarters of a mile from the creek and ford. All we venture to say is the site tallies well with the indication of the legend, and that the liss or some lost fort near it, was, probably once known as Dun Mechair. Indeed some relic of it may be found at Moyasta, in the name of Carrowenlongford, or "fort quarter" in use about 1622-1675, for 'longport' usually implies a fortress of some consequence. The other forts beyond the Moyasta creek are small and nameless with the exception of Rahaniska "the fort of the water."
FORDED BY GENERAL LUDLOW
Some have supposed Moyasta to be a corruption of Moyarta, but this is not so; we find Moyhassie, with Killygileagh (or Kilnacally church​yard) in the Inquisition of 1604; Moynasta and Kearowenlongfort in Moyartie Manor, in the Patent of 1622; and Moynasta in the "Book of Distribution" page 385. It was evidently, the arm of the sea forded by General Ludlow and his troops on their march to reduce Carrigaholt castle in 1651.
The fort of Lisnalegaun lies in the parish of Kilfearagh. It is of the moat type found all over Ire​land, only differing in height from the great moats found in abundance in eastern Ireland. The type rarely in County Clare. There is a good example in Lisnagree in the heart of the Slieve Barnagh Moun​tains, and a lower but similar fort at Lugalassa near Bodyke. If the forts with a high inner ring, such as Bealaha or Lissanuala were filled up inside they would closely resem​ble the Kilkee fort. We do not pro​pose going in any detail into a study of the forts around Kilkee. They are usually small and low, smaller as a rule than those near the Shannon. There are traces of a liss on the high ground near the site of Kilkee castle, behind MacDonnell Terrace. Another much levelled ring lies near George's Head. Besides the little fort called Lis-luinaghan, there are four others in the townland of that name and five in Lisdeen.
Going down the creek, there are three in Termon and one in Leaheen near Kilnagalliagh graveyard, an​other of the noted sites in the life of St. Senan. A group of three nearly levelled rings lies near Kil​fearagh churchyard, two bear names Lissyoolaghan and Lisheenagreaney. A small fort named Lisboy (yellow liss) and a slightly larger one are near the road to Carrigaholt. Several small, very low rings lie nearer to the sea, one in Kilkee Lower and seven in the united town-lands of Ballyonan and Doonaghboy. The name Doonaghboy is pronoun​ced Doonaghwee and is probably the “Doonaghbwee Caghir" held by Teige O'Cahan in 1655 in the townland of "Balleonan" then as now merged in the joint townland.
In 1655 there was a considerable amount of wood at Doonaha, Kildimo, Clonecaran and the neighbour​hood of Doonaghboy. The forts between Doonaha Brook and Poulnasherry Creek are of little interest. Of the three in Tullaroe one has been levelled since 1839. There are four near Newtown House and seven in Querrin. One near Templemeegh graveyard on the shore of the Shannon Is named Corlis. There are seven in Doonaha East. Cross​ing the stream into Doonaha West we find six forts round the village; only the north-eastern portion of Lisfuadnaheirka remains near a bend of the brook. The name is said locally to commemorate a “horned ghost” 
HOME  OF   MEN  AND  LEARNING

The village of Doonaha is known to students of Irish literature as having been a centre of Irish literary men and learning in the darkest period, and lowest ebb of such studies.
It was part of the McMahon's tribal land, and as such, was free from imposts to the O'Briens; prob​ably for this reason it is not men​tioned in the ancient rental of those chiefs, usually dated about 1380-1390. The McMahons held it until late in the reign of Elizabeth. After their revolt against her government in the closing years of the sixteenth cen- tury, it was confiscated to the Crown and granted to Sir Daniel O'Brien, ancestor of the Viscounts of Clare. It is called Dowagh alias Downaghy in 1622.
HE   BUILT  QUERRIN  HOUSE
In 1680 Doonaha East and West were held by Abraham Vanhogarten, a merchant, and one of the Dutch settlers who set their mark on the country. He built the old house of Querrin with Dutch tiles brought as ballast in his vessels, that bore Irish goods to Holland; but another family of the old Irish is far more identified with Doonaha. Daniel, Lord Viscount Clare, in 1683 granted Doonaha, Lisheen and other lands to Edmund Morony of Kilmacduane and Poula-vullen, Miltown Malbay, for the lives of the lesee, his wife, Jane Morony, and their sons, Pierce and John. Edmund was bound to erect a house 50 feet long and 18 feet wide and to plant two acres of orchard. When Lord Clare, by his loyalty to James II brought on himself the fate of his predecessors the McMahons, Margaret, Widow of Pierce Morony, successfully claimed, and was con​firmed in their rights, and the family held the land down to the last century.
THE  BIRTHPLACE   OF  O'CURRY
The "School of Doonaha" is espec​ially known for having produced the well known scholar, "the Scaliger of Irish literature," Eugene O'Curry, the colleague of John O'Donovan, and to whom we, his fellow country​men are so deeply indebted in our history, topography and archaeology. The school in some sense can claim an unbroken descent from the pro​fessional historians of the tribal period, for John Hartney of Kilkee was in touch with Andrew and Hugh MacCurtin, the last hereditary  "Ollaves of Thomond" who died  respectively in 1749 and 1755.
Andrew MacCurtin was  born in Moyglass in the parish of Kilmurry Ibrickane, and is  buried in Kilfarboy,   in   the   parish   of   Miltown Malbay.    He is well known as an ' Irish scholar and copyist of early manuscripts.     He   usually   resided near Kilshanny and taught English, Latin and Irish, hating the first, and expressing his views in the poem "Sweet is the Irish tongue." He was patronised by the O'Briens of Ennistymon and the MacDonnells of Kilkee.   Hugh MacCurtin, his cousin, was   born   near  Kilmacreehy   and buried in its venerable church.   He wrote a defence of Irish antiquities and an Irish Dictionary and was the last actual "ollamh."
A SCHOOLMASTER  IN ENNIS
Hartney's contemporary Seaghan do h'Orrda, John Hore of Kilkee and Cloonena, a poet, lived till 1780 and Thomas Meehan, though a schoolmaster at Ennis till 1798 kept, up connection with the "guild" of the Corcavaskin poets. The Doonaha school, free from the penal laws, and beyond the suspicion of the authorities, flourished. Among them, we may mention two other school​masters, Anthony O'Brien in 1780 and John Lloyd na hAodh, who attempted the earliest of the English topographical and historical works on Clare, the quaint and bombastic but very interesting 'Impartial Tour’ in 1778, besides Irish poetry and prose.
Like many of his class he was a tolerated dependent of several of the gentry, with intervals of wandering. Poor Lloyd's weakness lay in potations; he was found dead on the road. He was well known to Owen O'Curry, Ui Chomraidhe, Eugene’s father. Malachi Curry, pupil of Peter O'Connell of Carna was an​other poet, 1806-1818. Thomas Meehan of Ennis who wrote some of the verses in the "Impartial Tour" lived in touch with the Corcavaskin guild from 1778. Conor O'Doherty, schoolmaster and poet, Thomas Madigan, Eugene O'Curry's friend, and Michael Hanrahan, 1820-23 lived in Kilrush, while John Chambers, a schoolmaster, taught at Ross from 1766. Humble and obscure as they may seem to the outer world, their little work, a labour of love is likely to outlive many a more pretentious and popular writer, and will always be respected and valued by Irish students.
